

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Stuart AJ, Romano V, Virgili G, Shortt AJ

Stuart AJ, Romano V, Virgili G, Shortt AJ. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD012097. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012097.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review) Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	4
BACKGROUND	6
OBJECTIVES	7
METHODS	7
RESULTS	10
Figure 1	11
Figure 2.	13
Figure 3.	13
Figure 4.	13
DISCUSSION	14
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	15
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	15
REFERENCES	16
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	19
DATA AND ANALYSES	22
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 1 Best corrected visual acuity (logMAR).	23
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 2 Endothelial cell count (cells/mm2).	23
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 3 Graft dislocation.	23
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 4 Corneal graft rejection.	23
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 5 Primary graft failure.	24
ADDITIONAL TABLES	24
APPENDICES	28
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	29
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	29
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	29
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	29
INDEX TERMS	30

[Intervention Review]

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure

Alastair J Stuart¹, Vito Romano², Gianni Virgili³, Alex J Shortt⁴

¹Ophthalmology, Queen Mary's Hospital, Sidcup, UK. ²Ophthalmology, Royal Liverpool University Hospital, Liverpool, UK. ³Department of Translational Surgery and Medicine, Eye Clinic, University of Florence, Florence, Italy. ⁴Moorfields Eye Hospital/UCL Institute of Ophthalmology National Institute for Health Research Biomedical Research Centre, London, UK

Contact: Alastair J Stuart, Ophthalmology, Queen Mary's Hospital, Frognal Avenue, Sidcup, Kent, DA14 6LT, UK. alastairstuart@nhs.net.

Editorial group: Cochrane Eyes and Vision Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 6, 2018.

Citation: Stuart AJ, Romano V, Virgili G, Shortt AJ. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD012097. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012097.pub2.

Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Corneal endothelial transplantation has become the gold standard for the treatment of corneal endothelial dysfunctions, replacing full thickness transplantation, known as penetrating keratoplasty. Corneal endothelial transplantation has been described using two different techniques: Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) and Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK). Both are still performed worldwide.

Objectives

To compare the effectiveness and safety of Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for the treatment of corneal endothelial failure in people with Fuch's endothelial dystropy (FED) and pseudophakic bullous keratopathy (PBK).

Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (which contains the Cochrane Eyes and Vision Trials Register) (2017, Issue 7); MEDLINE Ovid; Embase Ovid; LILACS BIREME; the ISRCTN registry; ClinicalTrials.gov and the World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP). The date of the search was 11 August 2017.

Selection criteria

We included randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and non-randomised paired, contralateral-eye studies in any setting where DMEK was compared with DSAEK to treat people with corneal endothelial failure.

Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently screened the search results, assessed trial quality and extracted data using the standard methodological procedures expected by Cochrane. Our primary outcome was best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) measured in logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution (logMAR). Secondary outcomes were endothelial cell count, graft rejection, primary graft failure and graft dislocation. We graded the risk of bias of non-randomised studies (NRSs) using ROBINS-I.

Main results

We did not identify any RCTs but found four non-randomised studies (NRSs) including 72 participants (144 eyes), who had received DSAEK in the first eye followed by DMEK in the fellow eye. All the studies included adult participants where there was evidence of FED and endothelial failure requiring a corneal transplant for the treatment of visual impairment. We did not find any studies that included PBK. The trials were published between 2011 and 2015, and we assessed them as high risk of bias due to potential unknown confounding factors since DSAEK preceded DMEK in all participants. Two studies reported results at 12 months, one at 6 months, and one between 6 and 24 months. At one year, using DMEK in cases of endothelial failure may result in better BCVA compared with DSAEK (mean difference (MD) -0.14, 95% confidence interval (CI) -0.18 to -0.10 logMAR, 4 studies, 140 eyes, low-certainty evidence). None of the participants had severe visual loss (BCVA of 1.0 logMAR or more; very low-certainty evidence). Regarding endothelial cell count data (4 studies, 134 eyes) it is hard to draw any conclusions since two studies suggested no difference and the other two reported that DMEK provides a higher cell density at one year (very low-certainty evidence). No primary graft failure and only one graft rejection were recorded over four studies (144 eyes) (very low-certainty evidence). The most common complications reported were graft dislocations, which were recorded in one or two out of 100 participants with DSAEK but were more common using DMEK, although this difference could not be precisely estimated (risk ratio (RR) 5.40, 95% CI 1.51 to 19.3; 4 studies, 144 eyes, very low-certainty evidence).

Authors' conclusions

This review included studies conducted on people with corneal endothelium failure due to FED for whom both DMEK and DSAEK can be considered, and found low-certainty evidence that DMEK provides some advantage in terms of final BCVA, at the cost of more graft dislocations needing 're-bubbling' (very low-certainty of evidence).

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Two surgical techniques for corneal transplant (replacing the clear part of the eye with donor tissue)

What is the aim of this review?

The aim of this Cochrane Review was to compare two different ways of doing corneal transplant surgery: Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) and Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK). Cochrane Review authors collected and analysed all relevant studies to answer this question and found four studies.

Key messages

DMEK may result in better vision compared with DSAEK. DMEK may be associated with more complications but these complications do not occur often and can be managed without further surgery.

What was studied in the review?

The cornea is the clear (transparent) front part of the eye. In some conditions, for example, Fuch's endothelial dystrophy, the cells that line the inside of the cornea (endothelium) stop working so well. This can lead to cloudy vision. Doctors can restore vision by doing a corneal transplant which means replacing the corneal tissue with donor tissue. When the endothelium only is replaced this is known as 'Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty' or DMEK. An alternative corneal transplant is to replace the endothelium and the next layer of tissue in the cornea as well. This is known as 'Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty' or DSAEK.

Cochrane Review authors aimed to find out whether vision is better after DMEK or DSAEK, and how the techniques compare with respect to surgical complications.

What are the main results of the review?

The Cochrane Review authors found four studies. These studies included people who had DSAEK in their first eye to receive a corneal transplant followed by DMEK in their second eye to have a transplant. The studies were from Canada, Germany, India and the USA. None of the studies were supported by sponsors with a commercial interest.

The Cochrane Review authors judged the evidence to be low- or very low-certainty because there may be differences between the first eye and second eye surgeries (other than DMEK or DSAEK) and, in some cases, the data were limited or inconsistent.

The results were:

• DMEK may result in better vision compared with DSAEK (low-certainty evidence). This difference is equivalent to reading one or two lines more on a vision chart.

• None of the people taking part in these studies had severe vision loss after surgery. Severe vision loss was defined as vision worse than 6/60 or 20/200. There were not enough people enrolled in these studies to measure reliably this infrequent outcome (very low-certainty evidence)..

• The studies measured how many cells there were in the endothelium after surgery but found inconsistent results (very low-certainty evidence).



• Almost everyone taking part in the studies had good graft survival, with very few graft rejections and no graft failures. There were not enough people enrolled in these studies to measure reliably these infrequent outcomes (very low-certainty evidence)..

• DMEK may be associated with more early surgical complications. Graft dislocation may happen in one or two out of 100 people with DSAEK and about five times more often with DMEK. This difference was not measured reliably and could be smaller or much larger (very low-certainty evidence). Graft dislocation occurs within days or weeks after surgery and is usually treated with an injection of air into the eye ('re-bubbling').

How up-to-date is this review?

Cochrane Review authors searched for studies that had been published up to August 2017.

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review) Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings for the main comparison. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) compared with Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure

DMEK compared with DSAEK for corneal endothelial failure

Patient or population: participants/eyes with corneal endothelial failure

Settings: secondary or tertiary ophthalmic care

Intervention: DMEK

Comparison: DSAEK

4

Outcomes	Illustrative comp (95% CI)	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		No of eyes (studies)	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)	Justification for GRADE assessment
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk			(0.0.2)	
	DSAEK	DMEK				
BCVA logMAR, 12 months' fol- low-up ^a (smaller values of logMAR represent better vision)	The mean visu- al acuity was 0.35 logMAR (range 0.2 to 0.45)	On average, best correct- ed visual acu- ity with DMEK was -0.14 (95% Cl -0.18 to -0.10) logMAR better,		140 (4 studies)	⊕⊕⊙⊝ low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-2 for poten- tial confounding)
Severe visual loss (LogMAR BCVA of 1.0 or more) within 12 months' fol- low-up ^a	No studies reported any participants who experienced such loss.		140 (4 studies)	⊕ooo very low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-2 for poten- tial confounding) sparse data (-2 for imprecision)	
Endothelial cell count cells/mm ² ,	2 studies showed no difference between DSAEK and DMEK. 2 studies found better final ECC for DMEK vs DSAEK			134 eyes (4 studies)	⊕ooo very low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-2 for poten- tial confounding)

12 months' fol- low-up ^a						We did not conduct meta-analysis due to inconsisten- cy (-2).
Corneal graft rejection any time point ^a	There was 1 event in events in 72 eyes in	n 72 eyes in the D! the DMEK group	SAEK group and 0	144 (4 studies)	⊕ooo very low	Graft rejection was very rare in both groups and a rel- ative risk could not be estimated (-2 for imprecision), but data suggest very low rejection rate at one year for both techniques.
Primary graft failure	There were no event	ts in either group	(72 eyes each)	144 (4 studies)	⊕ooo very low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-1 for poten-tial confounding)
any time point ^o						Primary graft failure was very rare in both groups and a relative risk could not be estimated (-2 for impre- cision), but data suggest complete early success for both techniques.
Corneal graft dislocation	14 per 1000 7 (79 per 1000 (15 to 420)	RR: 5.40 (1.51 to 19.27)	144 eyes (4 studies)	⊕⊕⊙⊝ low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-2 for poten- tial confounding)
any time point ^a						
Primary graft failure	There were no event	ts in either group.	(72 eyes each)	144 (4 studies)	⊕⊙⊙© very low	Paired, contralateral-eye studies in which DSAEK in one eye preceded DMEK in the fellow eye (-1 for poten- tial confounding)
any time point ^a						Primary graft failure was very rare in both groups and a relative risk could not be estimated (-2 for impre- cision), but data suggest complete early success for both techniques.

endothelial keratoplasty

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High-certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate-certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low-certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low-certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

^aTwo studies reported results at 12 months, one at 6 months, and one between 6 and 24 months.

Cochrane

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.



BACKGROUND

Over the last two decades, significant advances have been made in corneal transplantation techniques. The treatment of corneal endothelial dysfunction has evolved from the replacement of a fullthickness cornea to replacing only the affected layer. This shift from penetrating to posterior lamellar surgery has improved allograft rejection rate post-keratoplasty and preserved the structural integrity of the eye (Lee 2009). Two surgical techniques are described for posterior lamellar keratoplasty or corneal endothelial transplantation; Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) and Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK). Both techniques give improved functional results compared to penetrating keratoplasty (PK), but it is still not clear which of these two techniques is the best. This meta-analysis compared DMEK and DSAEK.

Description of the condition

The cornea is the transparent tissue at the front of the eye. It is a critical component of the eye for vision as the cornea not only constitutes a clear window for the light rays to reach the retina but also provides most of the refractive power of the eye (Ayres 2006). It consists of five layers, the epithelium, the Bowman's membrane, the corneal stroma, the Descemet's membrane and the corneal endothelium (from the outer layer towards the inner surface). The clarity of the cornea is of utmost importance to provide a clear visual image; the endothelial cells of the cornea play a vital role in maintaining corneal transparency. They continuously pump fluid out of the cornea and hence keep it in a dehydrated and transparent state. The average healthy adult cornea has approximately 2500 to 2700 endothelial cells per mm² lining the inner surface of the cornea. This number falls slowly with age but rarely does this physiological loss of cells result in corneal endothelial failure (Smolin 1994). When, as a result of disease or damage, the number of cells is reduced more markedly below a critical level of around 300 to 500 cells/mm², corneal endothelial failure occurs resulting in corneal oedema and loss of vision (Borboli 2002; Smolin 1994).

The leading causes of corneal endothelial dysfunction or failure are Fuch's endothelial dystropy (FED) and pseudophakic bullous keratopathy (PBK). These conditions are also the two most common indications for endothelial corneal transplantation (Boimer 2011; Frigo 2015). In FED (a condition first described by Ernst Fuchs in 1910) there is premature degeneration of corneal endothelial cells. FED commonly affects individuals in the fifth and sixth decade of life (Afshari 2006). It affects both eyes although at its onset it is typically asymmetrical. FED occurs more commonly in women compared to men and can be inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion, although not all cases are familial (Cross 1971; Magovern 1979; Rosenblum 1980). The condition is progressive and irreversible. PBK refers to the loss of endothelial cells during cataract surgery. This may occur because of direct trauma to endothelial cells during the cataract procedure or indirectly due to the effects of inflammation or high intraocular pressure that occur following cataract surgery (Claesson 2009).

Description of the intervention

Treatment for corneal endothelial failure varies according to the severity of the disease and may range from hypertonic saline drops to surgical intervention. In moderate or severe disease, corneal grafting may be required for visual rehabilitation. Previously, the gold standard corneal grafting technique for endothelial failure was penetrating keratoplasty (PK). However, over the last 15 years endothelial keratoplasty (EK) has become the treatment of choice (Boimer 2011; Frigo 2015). In EK only the innermost layer of the cornea is replaced during surgery. A variety of EK techniques exist.

The expected benefits of EK techniques over PK are faster visual recovery, less astigmatism and stronger wound integrity (Terry 2001). Graft rejection is an important reason for failure in PK patients (Pineros 1996). Theoretically, there is also less risk of immune rejection of the transplanted corneal tissue with EK because a smaller amount of tissue is transplanted and because the endothelium is located in what is normally an immune privileged location. Finally, with EK there is the potential to make more efficient use of transplant tissue, using the posterior layer of the donor cornea for EK in one patient and the anterior layers for an anterior lamellar graft in another patient (Melles 2003). EK (Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) and Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK)) now accounts for over 50% of corneal transplants performed in the USA with over 25,000 surgeries performed in 2015, a significant increment over the last five years (Eye Bank Association of America 2015). DSAEK is much more commonly performed than DMEK. Of the 27,208 EKs performed in the USA in 2015, 22,514 were DSAEK whilst 4694 were DMEK (Eye Bank Association of America 2015).

Various subtypes of EK have been described but the most commonly performed are DSAEK and DMEK transplant. DSAEK was first described in 2006 by Mark Gorovoy (Gorovoy 2006) whilst DMEK was pioneered by Gerrit Melles in the same year (Melles 2006).

In DSAEK the surgeon uses an automated machine called a microkeratome to separate a thin layer (50 to 150 microns thick) from the back of the donor cornea containing corneal stroma, Descemet's membrane and endothelial cells. This thin layer of posterior cornea is then transplanted into the recipient eye and attached to the posterior cornea of the recipient. By contrast, in DMEK the surgeon carefully peels Descemet's membrane and endothelial cells from the back of the donor cornea and transplants this thin sheet (around 15 um) into the recipient's eye (Dapena 2011). The relative advantages and disadvantages of these procedures are discussed below.

How the intervention might work

Endothelial cells cannot regenerate in vivo (though they have been shown to do so in vitro (Joyce 2004)), so endothelial failure results in corneal swelling, that is corneal oedema, which causes blurring of vision. The fluid in the cornea causes bullae (small blisters on the surface of the cornea) which may rupture, causing pain. Medical management of the corneal oedema is limited to regular use of lubrication, hyperosmolar agents (such as sodium chloride 5% ointment) and bandage contact lenses that reduce the pain due to rupturing of surface bullae (Costagliola 2013). When the condition becomes intolerable for the patient then corneal transplantation is the treatment of choice. This surgical procedure can restore the vision or alleviate the symptoms, or both.

The aim of both DMEK and DSAEK is to transplant a healthy endothelial cell layer that will pump the fluid out of the cornea and result in restoration of corneal clarity and improvement in vision. It has been suggested that the visual rehabilitation and final visual acuity of DMEK may be better than DSAEK (Guerra

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



2011). This is thought to be due to the stromal layers, which cause optical irregularities, not being transplanted in the DMEK procedure (Maier 2013). Indeed, there are data to suggest that the thickness of DSAEK grafts influences the outcomes of the procedure. Thinner grafts have been associated with quicker visual rehabilitation and better overall visual outcomes (Busin 2013; Romano 2017). It is not clear which method is associated with higher rates of idiopathic primary graft failure (IPGF). Maier suggested this was lower in DMEK compared to DSAEK (Maier 2013), whilst another retrospective comparison of 100 DSAEK cases with 100 DMEK cases found the IPGF rate to be higher in the DMEK group (Hamzaoglu 2015). As DSAEK is a more established surgical procedure, most corneal surgeons have already overcome the technical learning curve whereas DMEK is still a relatively new technique. It is generally accepted that DMEK is a more technically difficult and challenging procedure (Parekh 2013). In DMEK, the graft thickness is not variable, as by definition it is just one layer of cells with their underlying Descemet's basement membrane. The main difficulty is during the preparation of the donor tissue as it is so thin and fragile. It is reported that between 4.2% and 8% of DMEK grafts cannot be prepared successfully (Parekh 2017a; Price 2009). Moreover, postoperative graft dislocation is a more common complication associated with DMEK (33% to 81%) than DSAEK (7% to 20%) (Guerra 2011; Tourtas 2012). Endothelial cell loss after DSAEK procedures has been quoted to range from 13.5% at six months (Khor 2013) to over 50% at 12 months (Dooren 2011). There are several different types of injector systems for insertion of DSAEK grafts and each is associated with different rates of endothelial cell loss. Endothelial cell loss associated with DMEK has been described to range between 24.7% (Maier 2015), and 41% (Tourtas 2012) at six months. Clearly any comparison of endothelial cell counts must take into account the post-operative time point at which the counts are assessed.

Why it is important to do this review

FED is the indication for up to 47% and PBK the indication for up to 17% of all corneal transplants (Afshari 2006; Eye Bank Association of America 2015; Frigo 2015). Both conditions commonly affect patients in the fifth and sixth decades of life. Population demographics are changing in high-income countries, with an aging population. It is possible that many cases of subclinical FED will become clinically apparent as people live longer; therefore, the incidence and prevalence of corneal endothelial failure due to FED may rise. Similarly, PBK is inherently more common in elderly patients, as it is this population that most commonly undergoes intraocular surgery, primarily for cataract. It is, therefore, possible that the incidence of PBK may rise with an aging population.

At present there are several different EK techniques. DMEK and DSAEK are the most commonly used and each has its advantages and disadvantages. In this review we aim to determine the effectiveness and safety of DMEK compared to DSAEK.

OBJECTIVES

To compare the effectiveness and safety of Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for the treatment of corneal endothelial failure in people with Fuch's endothelial dystropy (FED) and pseudophakic bullous keratopathy (PBK).

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We planned to include all randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of DMEK versus DSAEK that met our inclusion criteria.

We anticipated that there would be few, if any, RCTs. The way in which these surgical procedures have evolved means that there are more likely to be studies in which people underwent DSAEK in the past, as the procedure of choice, before undergoing DMEK in their fellow eye. Such non-randomised contralateral-eye studies have obvious limitations, but nonetheless the data from these studies may be of value because they are at lower risk of confounding bias than that from cohort studies. We, therefore, also included data from non-randomised studies (NRSs) with paired design in which patients undergo DSAEK in one eye and DMEK in the other eye.

We did not include data from any other study designs, such as matched, unpaired studies, since they may be even more prone to unknown confounding factors than within-person studies.

Types of participants

Inclusion criteria

 We included people with a clinical diagnosis of FED or PBK requiring a corneal transplant for the treatment of corneal endothelial failure. We included people undergoing combined cataract surgery and corneal transplant (phaco-DMEK/DSAEK).

Exclusion criteria

 We excluded trials that included participants with visually significant co-morbidities (e.g. glaucoma, glaucoma filtration surgeries, aphakia, anterior chamber intraocular lenses, scleral fixated intraocular lenses).

There were no age or gender restrictions.

Types of interventions

We included studies in which participants or eyes underwent a DMEK or DSAEK procedure, with or without simultaneous cataract surgery as a primary procedure.

Types of outcome measures

We originally planned to collect data on the following outcomes.

Primary outcomes

 Mean logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution (LogMAR) best corrected visual acuity (BCVA) at 12 months postoperatively

Secondary outcomes

- Mean logMAR BCVA at 1 month and 3 months post-treatment (to indicate speed of visual recovery)
- Mean unaided LogMAR visual acuity at six months posttreatment (to evaluate effect of treatment on unaided vision)
- Mean endothelial cell count as measured by specular microscopy at 6 months, 12 months, 24 months and 5 years posttreatment

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- Mean spherical equivalent refraction in dioptres at 24 months post-treatment
- Mean regular refractive astigmatism in dioptres at 24 months post-treatment
- Mean irregular astigmatism in dioptres at 24 months posttreatment, measured by corneal topography

Harms

Information was collected on all harms but we specifically analysed the following:

- Corneal graft rejection at any time up to five years post surgery. Corneal graft rejection is defined as clinical evidence of endothelial dysfunction (increase in corneal thickness) in the presence of cells in the anterior chamber with or without the presence of keratic precipitates
- Primary graft failure (defined as failure of postoperative corneal oedema to resolve within three months of surgery)
- Graft dislocation within one week of surgery
- Endophthalmitis within one month of surgery
- Severe visual loss as (LogMAR) BCVA of 1.0 or less within 12 months (see Differences between protocol and review)

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

The Cochrane Eyes and Vision Information Specialist conducted systematic searches in the following databases for RCTs and controlled clinical trials. There were no language or publication year restrictions. The date of the search was 11 August 2017.

- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; 2017, Issue 7) (which contains the Cochrane Eyes and Vision Trials Register) in the Cochrane Library (searched 11 August 2017) (Appendix 1).
- MEDLINE Ovid (1946 to 11 August 2017) (Appendix 2).
- Embase Ovid (1980 to 11 August 2017) (Appendix 3).
- LILACS BIREME(1982 to 11 August 2017) (Appendix 4).
- ISRCTN registry (www.isrctn.com/editAdvancedSearch; searched 11 August 2017) (Appendix 5).
- US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov; searched 11 August 2017) (Appendix 6).
- World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (www.who.int/ictrp; searched 11 August 2017) (Appendix 7).

Searching other resources

We searched the reference lists of includable studies to identify any other potentially relevant studies. We did not undertake manual handsearching of conference proceedings or journals for this review.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (AJS, VR) worked independently to assess the titles and abstracts resulting from the searches. We then obtained full-text reports of all possibly or definitely relevant studies for

further assessment. The two review authors assessed these full-text copies to see whether they met the inclusion criteria. We resolved discrepancies through discussion. We documented excluded trials which were thought to be possibly relevant on the basis of the abstract but not eligible based on the assessment of the full-text copy, and recorded the reasons for exclusion in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

Data extraction and management

Two review authors (AJS, VR) extracted the data independently using pre-piloted forms and web-based software Covidence (Covidence 2015).

We collected the following information on study characteristics and summarise these in Table 1.

- Study design: parallel-group RCT/non-randomised withinperson studies/one or both eyes reported
- Unit of randomisation: (participants or eyes)
- Participants: country, total number of participants, total number of eyes, age, sex, inclusion and exclusion criteria
- Intervention and comparator details: including number of people (eyes) randomised to each group
- Primary and secondary outcomes as measured and reported in the trials, adverse events
- Length of follow-up
- Date study conducted
- Funding and conflicts of interest

We extracted data on all of the outcomes pre-specified in our Methods (Types of outcome measures) section. We resolved discrepancies through discussion amongst all review authors. One review author entered the data into Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5) (RevMan 2014), and a second review author checked the entered data for errors and inconsistencies.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (AJS, VR) assessed studies meeting the inclusion criteria for risk of bias. For eligible RCTs we planned to use the principles described in Cochrane's 'Risk of bias' tool in Chapter 8 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2011). We considered the following domains: random sequence generation (selection bias) and allocation concealment (selection bias), masking of participants, masking of outcome assessment (performance bias and detection bias), completeness of follow-up (attrition bias) and selective reporting (reporting bias). Masking of surgeons performing the procedure is clearly not possible. However, we considered studies where the participants and the assessors had been masked to be at low risk of performance bias and detection bias. Studies where participants or assessors had not been masked to the intervention were deemed as having high risk of performance bias and detection bias. For RCTs, we planned to grade each parameter as: low risk of bias, high risk of bias and unclear. However, no RCTs were included in the current version of this review.

To assess the risk of bias in non-randomised contralateral eye studies (NRSs) meeting our inclusion criteria we planned to use the ACROBAT-NRSI ("A Cochrane Risk Of Bias Assessment Tool for Non-Randomized Studies") tool (Sterne 2014), which has been renamed to ROBINS-I (Sterne 2016) with minimal



changes at the time this review was published. This tool requires us to define a hypothetical generic target randomised trial addressing the population, intervention, comparator and outcomes of interest. The conceptualisation of this hypothetical generic target trial allows the research question to be clearly specified, and complexities that may arise with respect to the tools used to measure an outcome domain or the timing of measurements to be identified. Based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria for this review as a whole, we have defined our generic target trial as DMEK versus DSAEK for the treatment of corneal decompensation and visual acuity of 6/12 or less.

When using the ROBINS-I tool, we defined DMEK as the experimental intervention and DSAEK as the control intervention. In our hypothetical generic target trial, our effect of interest would be the effect of assigning participants to one treatment or other (DMEK or DSAEK) at baseline. This effect would be measured using an intention-to-treat analysis in our generic target trial. We therefore used the ROBINS-I analogue of starting experimental intervention versus starting control intervention to evaluate risk of bias.

NRSs meeting inclusion criteria may have confounding domains that predict whether a participant receives the experimental or control intervention. The most likely confounding domain is the differing follow-up periods between eyes. DSAEK is an older procedure and therefore many participants in non-randomised contralateral eye studies had undergone DSAEK many months or years previously and DMEK (the newer intervention) more recently. It is possible that there could be a difference of many months or even years between the procedures, which could confound the results, particularly regarding long-term outcomes. The second confounding domain is ocular co-morbidity. DSAEK is perceived as technically more straight forward than DMEK and, therefore, may be used more commonly in more complicated cases where the patient has a shallow anterior chamber or anterior chamber lens inserted or has undergone previous glaucoma surgery. Our inclusion and exclusion criteria for this review excluded such patients. All studies included were single intervention studies, and subsequently there were no co-interventions that would have an effect on the outcome of interest.

For NRSs, we assigned an overall risk of bias to each study based on the worst assessment across all bias domains using the recommended levels (low, moderate, serious or critical risk of bias or no information). We resolved any disagreements between the review authors by discussion.

Measures of treatment effect

We planned to treat the following outcomes as continuous data and used the mean difference (MD).

- BCVA (LogMAR)
- Unaided visual acuity (LogMAR)
- Severe visual loss (BCVA 1.0 logMAr or less, see Differences between protocol and review)
- Degree of irregular astigmatism
- Refractive error (spherical equivalent in dioptres and amount of regular astigmatism in dioptres)
- Endothelial cell density

We planned to treat these outcomes as dichotomous data and used the risk ratio (RR) to measure the effect size.

- Graft dislocation
- Primary graft failure
- Corneal graft rejection (dichotomous)
- Endophthalmitis

If we suspected or found that the values for these outcomes were not normally distributed then we would have reported the median and interquartile ranges.

Unit of analysis issues

Trials may randomise one or both eyes to the intervention or comparator. Should we find RCTs in the updates of this review, we will consider the following approach to unit of analysis issues.

If people are randomised and allocated to treatment but only one eye per person is included in the trial, then there will not be a unit of analysis issue. In these cases, we will document how and when the eye was selected in order to determine whether the selection was data driven.

If people are randomly allocated to treatment but both eyes are included and reported, we will analyse as 'clustered data', that is, adjust for within-person correlation as appropriate. We may have to contact the trial investigators for further information to do this.

We analysed non-randomised trials included in the review (withinperson study) as paired data (Deeks 2011). Therefore, for BCVA and endothelial cell count (ECC) we have used inverse variance meta-analysis methods and computed standard errors of paired difference from t-values or P values when these were not available. We did not account for paired analysis of dichotomous data given limitations in their reporting in the included studies.

Dealing with missing data

We evaluated all studies for missing outcome data, missing summary data, missing individuals (e.g. lost to follow-up) and missing study-level characteristics such as subgroup analyses.

In the event of missing data we documented the cause and assessed whether the data were missing at random (where the fact that the data are missing is not related to the actual values of the data) or whether the data were not missing at random (where the missing data may be related to the treatment administered) such as losses to follow-up.

Whenever possible, we contacted the original investigators to request missing data. In this review, we included only paired studies in which missing data are less of an issue since each participant is exposed to both the experimental and the control intervention.

Assessment of heterogeneity

In order to decide whether it was possible to carry out a metaanalysis on the results of the trials found, we checked for heterogeneity by examining:

- the characteristics of the studies;
- the forest plot of results of the studies;
- the results of the Chi² test for statistical heterogeneity;

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

• the I² statistic (Higgins 2003) computed to quantify inconsistencies between study results.

We regarded a Chi² P value of less than or equal to 0.10 as indicating statistically significant heterogeneity.

We used the following thresholds for the interpretation of I²:

- 0% to 30%: unlikely to be any heterogeneity;
- 30% to 60%: may represent moderate heterogeneity*;
- 50% to 90%: may represent substantial heterogeneity*;
- 75% to 100%: considerable heterogeneity

*We interpreted the I² statistic value in light of the magnitude and direction of intervention effects and the strength of evidence for heterogeneity (P value from the Chi^2 test, or confidence interval for I²).

Assessment of reporting biases

We found only NRSs and followed the guidance provided for ROBINS-I to assess this issue (Sterne 2016). Our literature searches did not yield enough publications to warrant assessing for publication bias.

Data synthesis

We included only NRSs in this review and performed a metaanalysis of these. If we find RCTs in future updates of this review, we will adopt the following strategy for including studies with both designs in meta-analyses.

In the absence of heterogeneity we will perform meta-analysis of data from RCTs and non-randomised contralateral eye studies separately in the first instance. We will then pool the data from both study types and, in the absence of heterogeneity, we will perform a meta-analysis on these pooled data.

We had planned to combine parallel-arm studies with studies using paired data by means of generic inverse variance metaanalysis. However, there were insufficient data from studies and study authors for this purpose.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

Due to the small number of included studies, we did not perform any subgroup analyses. In future updates, if there are enough studies included, we will perform subgroup analysis of:

- outcomes in participants with PBK and participants with FED; and
- combined phaco-DMEK/phaco-DSAEK procedures and DSAEK/ DMEK alone.

Sensitivity analysis

Due to the small number of included studies, we did not perform any sensitivity analyses. In future updates, if there are enough studies included, we will evaluate the effect of excluding RCTs deemed as high risk of bias for allocation concealment. We will then examine the effect of excluding studies assessed as high risk of bias on any parameter, unpublished studies or data, and industryfunded studies, by repeating the analysis without these.

We will utilise the NRSI (Sterne 2014) tool to identify nonrandomised contralateral eye studies deemed to be at high risk of bias and evaluate the effect of excluding these from the pooled and subgroup analysis.

'Summary of findings' table

We prepared a 'Summary of findings' table presenting relative and absolute risks. Two review authors graded independently the overall quality of the evidence for each outcome using the GRADE classification (GRADEpro 2015). We included the following outcomes in the 'Summary of findings' table:

- LogMAR BCVA at 12 months postoperatively in the operated eye
- Severe visual loss (LogMAR BCVA of 1.0 or more) within 12 months
- Mean endothelial cell count as measured by specular microscopy at 12 months post-treatment
- Corneal graft rejection
- Primary graft failure
- Graft dislocation

Further guidance was published by the GRADE Working Group (Schünemann 2018) on how to integrate ROBINS-I assessment with the GRADE assessment of the certainty of evidence. We decided that evidence based on NRSs should start as high-certainty, but we expected to downgrade it for risk of bias, particularly due to confounding or selection biases, which are hard to rule out in NRSs. We acknowledged that the certainty of evidence could be upgraded with large effects or if all plausible residual confounders or other biases increased our certainty in the estimated effect, generally meaning that confounding may have led us to underestimate, rather than overestimate, the observed effect. No dose-response was possible with our surgical interventions.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

The electronic searches yielded a total of 1261 records (Figure 1). After removing 457 duplicates, the Cochrane Information Specialist (CIS) screened the remaining 804 records and removed 611 records that were not relevant to the scope of the review. We screened the remaining 193 records and obtained 15 full-text reports for further assessment. We excluded 10 studies, see Characteristics of excluded studies for details and identified five reports for the following four studies that met the inclusion criteria: Bhandari 2015; Goldich 2015; Guerra 2011; and Maier 2015b. We did not identify any ongoing studies from our searches of the clinical trials registries.

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Figure 1. Study flow diagram



Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Included studies

We selected four studies for inclusion (Bhandari 2015; Goldich 2015; Guerra 2011a; Maier 2015b). All studies were NRSs and, following our inclusion criteria, they adopted a paired design in which they used DSAEK in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye of the same participant.

The overall sample size was 72 participants (144 eyes) for BCVA, corneal graft rejection, primary graft failure, graft dislocation, and ECC. The studies were conducted in Canada, Germany, India and the USA in academic or hospital settings. All the studies included adult participants where there was evidence of FED requiring a corneal transplant for the treatment of visual impairment. The follow-up range was between 6 months and 36 months. In particular, two studies reported results at 12 months, one at 6 months, and one between 6 and 24 months. In all reports DSAEK surgery was performed before DMEK with the average time between surgeries ranging from 12 to 16 months.

Excluded studies

We excluded 10 studies (Characteristics of excluded studies). Five of these were NRSs that compared DMEK with DSAEK, but we excluded them because they did not adopt a paired, contralateral-eye design.

Risk of bias in included studies

Table 2 presents the risk of bias in the included NRSs as assessed with ROBINS-I tool (Sterne 2016).

Bias due to confounding

Baseline confounders were shown to be balanced in the DSAEK and DMEK groups before surgery in all studies, particularly at least three of the following for each study: lens status, BCVA, CCT, ECT and donor ECC. Since DSAEK is an earlier technique, it preceded DMEK in all participants; according to new findings (Steger 2016), the first graft could take advantage of better graft survival, which may be due to concurrent systemic immunosuppressive treatment or unknown confounders. Moreover, there may have been an imbalance regarding unknown confounders and we scored all studies at serious risk of bias for this domain for all outcomes. We have provided a discussion of the potential implications of performing DMEK as the second intervention in the Quality of the evidence section.

Bias in selection of participants

The intervention and follow-up start were simultaneous as a rule for surgery. There was no evidence of selection into the studies due to variables measured after the intervention. In fact, studies were all paired NRSs and patients were included in the studies only if DSAEK was used in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye. Therefore, all studies were at low risk of bias for this domain.

Bias in classification of interventions

DSAEK and DMEK are well defined surgical interventions. Therefore, all studies were at low risk of bias for this domain.

Bias due to departures from intended interventions

In all studies there was no mention of or reasons to presume a difference in surgeon training in either of the techniques. There was no evidence of differences in co-interventions such as concurrent cataract surgery. Therefore, all studies were at low risk of bias for this domain.

Bias due to missing data

None of the included studies reported any missing data. Maier 2015b reported a longer follow-up for DSAEK compared to DMEK (21 vs 7 months), which could have favoured DSAEK, since visual acuity continues to improve with this technique, thus we rated it at serious risk of bias for this domain. The other studies were at low risk of bias,

Bias in measurement of outcomes

All studies were retrospective and we assume no risk of bias due to differential measurement in BCVA for the DSAEK versus DMEK groups since outcome assessors were unaware of the research use of these data. Guerra 2011 and Maier 2015b used Snellen charts to measure visual acuity, which was then converted to logMAR, but we did not increase risk of bias, since differential measurement is unlikely to have taken place. Other outcomes, as well as adverse events, were objectively measured. Therefore, all studies were at low risk of bias for this domain.

Bias in selection of the reported result

The primary and secondary outcomes of our review were measured and reported in all studies. Therefore, all studies were at low risk of bias for this domain.

Overall bias

We rated all studies at serious risk for all outcomes because DSAEK preceded DMEK in each participant. In fact, although Steger 2016 found an advantage for the first eye when a graft was received in the second eye, it is unknown whether this can balance any confounding or selection effect occurring due to ordering of the interventions.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) compared with Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure

We aimed to extract data at 12 months for our primary outcome, but Goldich 2015 provided data at six months and Maier 2015b provided data at the last follow-up time, which was longer for DSAEK as compared to DMEK (21 vs 7 months on average, which we considered a source of potential bias favouring DSAEK).

Best corrected visual acuity (BCVA)

Four studies (70 participants, 140 eyes) provided data on BCVA after six or more months (Analysis 1.1, paired data; Figure 2). The results favoured DMEK over DSAEK: mean difference (MD) -0.14 logMAR, 95% confidence interval (CI) -0.18 to -0.10 with no evidence of heterogeneity (I² = 0%) and consistent effects.

Figure 2. Forest plot of comparison 1. DMEK versus DSAEK, outcome: 1.1 Best corrected visual acuity (logMAR)

Study of Subgroup	Moan Difforonco	SE.	DMEK	DSAEK	Woight	Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study of Subgroup	Mean Difference	ЭĽ	TUta	TULA	weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Rahuom, 95% Ci
Bhandari 2015	-0.13	0.022	30	30	72.3%	-0.13 [-0.17, -0.09]	
Goldich 2015	-0.14	0.051	17	17	13.4%	-0.14 [-0.24, -0.04]	
Guerra 2011	-0.181	0.054	13	13	12.0%	-0.18 [-0.29, -0.08]	_
Maier 2015b	-0.29	0.123	10	10	2.3%	-0.29 [-0.53, -0.05]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Total (95% CI)			70	70	100.0%	-0.14 [-0.18, -0.10]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau² = Test for overall effect:	: 0.00; Chi² = 2.27, d Z = 7.55 (P ≤ 0.000	f= 3 (P 01)	= 0.52)	; I² = 0%			-0.5 -0.25 0 0.25 0.5 Favours DMEK Favours DSAEK

This evidence was of low certainty due to risk of bias (-2) related to potential confounding since DSAEK preceded DMEK in all studies.

There were no data provided for BCVA at one or three months, as well as for unaided BCVA.

Among vision-related harms, no participants were reported to suffer from severe visual loss (LogMAR BCVA of 1.0 or less).

Endothelial cell count (ECC)

Four studies (68 participants, 134 eyes) provided data on this outcome after six or more months (Analysis 1.2, paired data; Figure

3). We present data as if they were independent groups for Goldich 2015, since they reported a P value from a paired t-test which was larger (less significant) than that achieved by an unpaired t-test (P = 0.049 versus 0.014) but gave no explanation for this. Final ECC in Bhandari 2015 and Guerra 2011 favoured DSAEK but the difference was small and not significant. On the contrary, Goldich 2015 and Maier 2015b found a large difference in favour of DMEK. Since there was high heterogeneity and inconsistency of effects we did not conduct a meta-analysis.

Figure 3. Forest plot of comparison 1. DMEK versus DSAEK, outcome: 1.2 Endothelial cell count (cells/mm²)

			Experimental	Control	Mean Difference		Mean	Differen	ce	
Study or Subgroup	Mean Difference	SE	Total	Total	IV, Random, 95% Cl		IV, Rand	lom, 95%	% CI	
Bhandari 2015	-30	16.54	30	30	-30.00 [-62.42, 2.42]			+		
Goldich 2015	447	210.86	17	17	447.00 [33.72, 860.28]				-	
Guerra 2011	54	209.13	15	15	54.00 [-355.89, 463.89]			++		
Maier 2015b	861	442.08	4	6	861.00 [-5.46, 1727.46]					\rightarrow
						-1000	-500	0	500	1000
							Favours DSAE	< Favo	urs DMEK	

This evidence was of very low certainty for risk of bias (potential confounding, -2) and inconsistency (-2).

Harms: corneal graft complications

All studies (72 participants, 144 eyes) reported graft complications. The most common complications reported were graft dislocations, which were recorded in 1 or 2 out of 100 participants with DSAEK and were more common using DMEK, although this difference could not be precisely estimated (risk ratio (RR) 5.40, 95% CI 1.51 to 19.27; I² = 0%; Analysis 1.3; Figure 4). There were no primary graft failures in either group and only 1 corneal graft rejection in the DSAEK group. Thus, both DMEK and DSAEK appeared to be successful regarding these outcomes but we did not obtain any relative estimates of effect since events were very rare and the total sample size was small (Analysis 1.4; Analysis 1.5). For illustrative purposes, a binomial exact confidence interval of 0 events out of 72 events from nil to 7.5%.



	DME	к	DSA	К		Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Bhandari 2015	3	30	0	30	20.0%	7.00 [0.38, 129.93]	_
Goldich 2015	0	17	0	17		Not estimable	
Guerra 2011	5	15	1	15	40.0%	5.00 [0.66, 37.85]	
Maier 2015b	5	10	1	10	40.0%	5.00 [0.70, 35.50]	
Total (95% CI)		72		72	100.0%	5.40 [1.51, 19.27]	
Total events	13		2				
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	0.04, df=	: 2 (P =	0.98); I ^z :	= 0%			
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.60	(P = 0.0	009)				Less dislocation in DMEK Less dislocation in DSAEK

The evidence regarding any graft complication was of low certainty for graft dislocations (risk of bias, potential confounding, -2)

and very low for graft failure or rejection due to sparse data (imprecision, -2).

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Other outcomes

We did not find data on spherical equivalent, regular or irregular astigmatism in any included study. Among harms, we did not find cases of postoperative endophthalmitis.

DISCUSSION

During the last decade there has been a shift from penetrating keratoplasty to endothelial keratoplasty (EK): the anterior corneal surface is no longer compromised by corneal incisions and sutures, and the corneal refractive surface has been largely preserved. A faster visual recovery can be obtained with these improved techniques by minimising wound healing processes and suturederived complications (Bahar 2008; Melles 1998; Terry 2005). DSAEK or DMEK have become the procedures of choice for the replacement of corneal endothelium in people with endothelial decompensation of various origins. We conducted this systematic review since there is a need to summarise the evidence on whether the preferred option to treat the endothelial dysfunction is DMEK or DSAEK. We found four studies adopting a paired, contralateral-eye design (144 eyes) in which one eye received DSAEK and the fellow eye received DMEK. Two studies reported data at 12 months, one study at 6 months and one between 6 and 24 months.

Summary of main results

We found low-certainty evidence that DMEK is better than DSAEK in terms of final BCVA by about 1.5 lines. As expected, DMEK eyes were more commonly associated with graft dislocation compared to DSAEK, but this difference was imprecisely estimated and the evidence was of very low certainty. We could not estimate the relative effect of DMEK versus DSAEK on final ECC, since the results of the studies were heterogeneous. The occurrence of corneal graft rejection and primary graft failure was very low both for DMEK and DSAEK, but the event rate was too small to investigate any differences between them (very low-certainty evidence). Other harms, such as severe visual loss and endophthalmitis, were not recorded.

Further analyses are needed for long-term outcomes, including observational and registry-based studies.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

There was variability across studies related to different races of participants, the use of different characteristics of donor corneal tissue, and different lengths of follow-up; and some follow-up times were short. Moreover, it must be noted that graft endothelial cell density and primary graft failure is correlated to the surgeon's skills. It has been highlighted in the literature that DMEK has not gained popularity over DSAEK mainly because it is technically much more demanding, requiring considerable surgical skills and prolonged surgical time, leading to complications, and iatrogenic primary graft failure (Anshu 2012; Guerra 2011b; Price 2009). The learning curve of DMEK is accompanied by a high rate of tissue loss (up to 16% in some reports), and a failure rate of up to 8%, which is higher than that for other procedures (Parekh 2017b; Patel 2012). Our review found no data to investigate the effect of surgeon training on the relative effectiveness of the two techniques.

Although good visual outcomes are recorded in most cases after DSAEK, speed of vision recovery and final visual outcome may not be as good as could be expected in the DMEK group. Some

reports propose ultrathin (UT) DSAEK in order to achieve better vision outcomes compared to standard DSAEK, while obtaining the same low rates of postoperative complications of standard DSAEK surgery (Busin 2012; Busin 2013; Dickman 2016; Romano 2015a; Romano 2015b). They recommended performing UT DSAEK surgery in cases where DMEK surgery may be extremely difficult such as in eyes with complicated anatomy (i.e. in the presence of anterior synechiae, anterior chamber intraocular lenses (IOLs), natural crystalline lens, or when there is no barrier between anterior chamber and vitreous cavity). However, there is still not strong evidence comparing UT DSAEK and DMEK.

Quality of the evidence

In terms of visual outcomes the certainty of the evidence, which for NRS we initially GRADE-ed as low certainty, was very low since DSAEK preceded DMEK in all individuals, which may have led to an imbalance in unknown confounders. In particular, eyes operated with DSAEK may have been selected based on known outcomes to undergo DMEK. Therefore we downgraded this domain to high risk of bias despite the fact that all studies reported balanced baseline BCVA and donor ECC. Additionally, the certainty of the evidence on all other outcomes was very low due to heterogeneity (ECC) or large imprecision of the estimates or inability to estimate any relative effect since most studies recorded no graft complications. Beyond differences in baseline ECC density, the heterogeneity in final ECC values could be related to confounders, such as simultaneous cataract extraction and, for Maier 2015b, loss to follow-up of about half of study eyes.

The risk of bias due to the fact that DSAEK preceded DMEK in all individuals is worth further discussion since this is a fundamental limitation of this type of research. As reported above, Steger 2016 found better outcomes for the first eye regarding corneal graft failure, especially in eyes with FED. A learning curve of 50 DMEK surgeries was reported in previous studies, but a recent study found that surgeons experienced in DSAEK perform DMEK with adequate functional and anatomic results (Phillips 2017). Moreover, this type of surgery is typically performed in small numbers by each surgeon, who would continue their surgical training between the two surgeries. Therefore, the small studies included in this review are likely to resemble most of the current clinical practice. Ultimately, we acknowledge that the need for graft repositioning (re-bubbling) after either technique may be lower as a surgeon becomes more fully trained.

Potential biases in the review process

We included only NRSs that used a paired, contralateral-eye design. We considered that a contralateral-eye design avoided confounding bias. However, we found that DSAEK always preceded DMEK in all individuals in the included contralateral-eye studies. This may have induced confounding, but in all studies, major known confounders were balanced in the two groups.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

We found two recently published systematic reviews (Singh 2017; Zhu 2017).

Singh 2017 included seven NRSs, included all our studies, but reported results at six months rather than at one year. They did not mention the reason for the exclusion of Bhandari 2015. We did

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Copyright © 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



not include the following studies: Hamzaoglu 2015; Rudolph 2012 and Tourtas 2012 because they were not paired, contralateral-eye studies. Singh 2017 evaluated the limitations of the studies as well as of the review methodology, but did not adopt formal methods to incorporate them in the conclusions.

Zhu 2017 included seven NRSs, of which three (Goldich 2015; Guerra 2011; Maier 2015b) were included in our review. They did not mention the reason for the exclusion of Bhandari 2015. We did not include the following studies: Droutsas 2016; Green 2015, Hamzaoglu 2015 and Tourtas 2012 because they were not paired, contralateral-eye studies. Zhu 2017 used the Newcastle–Ottawa Scale to assess study quality and found all studies were high quality (score > 6), but did not relate study quality to specific outcomes.

Despite partial overlap in study inclusion criteria, this review reached similar overall conclusions on the relative effect of DMEK and DSAEK regarding BCVA and graft dislocation.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

For people in which both Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) and Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) can be considered, we found very low-certainty evidence that DMEK provides some advantage in terms of final best corrected visual acuity (BCVA), at the cost of more graft dislocations needing 're-bubbling' (very low-certainty of evidence). These results might be considered in personalised decision making involving the patient and the surgeon. Severe visual loss, primary graft failure and endophthalmitis were not found and only one graft rejection was recorded, which means these harms are not a concern.

Implications for research

Studies should report on surgeons' training and the usability of DMEK compared to DSAEK. In addition, since a randomised clinical trial has shown that UT-DSAEK results in faster and better recovery of BCVA with similar refractive outcomes, endothelial cell loss, and incidence of complications (Dickman 2016), an interesting comparison could be between ultra-thin (UT) DSAEK and DMEK for visual acuity, intra- and postoperative complications.

Future research should focus on higher level evidence, that is a randomised clinical trial comparing UT-DSAEK with DMEK surgery. Data from wide-scale transplant registries such as those in the United Kingdom (Greenrod 2014) or Australia, could provide a large comparative dataset, which may be valuable for real-world efficacy and safety of these surgical techniques.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cochrane Eyes and Vision (CEV) created and executed the electronic search strategies. We thank Jod Mehta and Ana Quartilho for their comments on this protocol and Catey Bunce and Bernhard Steger for their comments on the review. We thank Jennifer Evans and Anupa Shah for their support with the editorial process.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Bhandari 2015 {published data only}

Bhandari V, Reddy JK, Relekar K, Prabhu V. Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty in the fellow eye for Fuchs endothelial dystrophy: a retrospective study. *BioMed Research International* 2015;**2015**:750567. [DOI: 10.1155/2015/750567]

Goldich 2015 {published data only}

Goldich Y, Artornsombidth P, Avni-Zauberman N, Perez M, Ulate R, Elbaz U, et al. Fellow eye comparison of corneal thickness and curvature in Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty and Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *Cornea* 2014;**33**(6):547-50.

* Goldich Y, Showail M, Avni-Zauberman N, Perez M, Ulate R, Elbaz U, et al. Contralateral eye comparison of Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty and Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 2015;**159**(1):155-9.e1.

Guerra 2011 {published data only}

Guerra FP, Anshu A, Price MO, Price FW. Endothelial keratoplasty: fellow eyes comparison of Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty and Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Cornea* 2011;**30**(12):1382-6.

Maier 2015b {published data only}

Maier AK, Gundlach E, Gonnermann J, Klamann MK, Bertelmann E, Rieck PW, et al. Retrospective contralateral study comparing Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty with Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *Eye* 2015;**29**(3):327-32.

References to studies excluded from this review

Cursiefen 2010 {published data only}

Cursiefen C, Kruse FE. DMEK: Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty [DMEK: posteriore lamellare keratoplastiktechnik]. *Der Ophthalmologe* 2010;**107**(4):370-6.

Cursiefen 2013 {published data only}

Cursiefen C, Steven P, Roters S, Heindl LM. Prevention and management of complications in Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) and Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) [Komplikationsvermeidung und -management bei "Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty" (DMEK) und "Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty" (DSAEK)]. *Der Ophthalmologe* 2013;**110**(7):614-21.

Droutsas 2016 {published data only}

Droutsas K, Lazaridis A, Papaconstantinou D, Brouzas D, Moschos MM, Schulze S, et al. Visual outcomes after Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty - comparison of specific matched pairs. *Cornea* 2016;**35**(6):765-71.

Green 2014 {published data only}

Green M, Wilkins M. Comparison of DSAEK and DMEK learning curves. *Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology* 2014;**42**(S1):85.

Green 2015 {published data only}

Green M, Wilkins MR. Comparison of early surgical experience and visual outcomes of DSAEK and DMEK. *Cornea* 2015;**34**(11):1341-4.

Hamzaoglu 2015 {published data only}

Hamzaoglu EC, Straiko MD, Mayko ZM, Sales CS, Terry MA. The first 100 eyes of standardized Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty versus standardized Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Ophthalmology* 2015;**122**(11):2193-9.

Heinzelmann 2016 {published data only}

Heinzelmann S, Bohringer D, Eberwein P, Reinhard T, Maier P. Outcomes of Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty, Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty and penetrating keratoplasty from a single centre study. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology* 2016;**254**(3):515-22.

Rudolph 2012 {published data only}

Rudolph M, Laaser K, Bachmann BO, Cursiefen C, Epstein D, Kruse FE. Corneal higher-order aberrations after Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Ophthalmology* 2012;**119**(3):528-35.

Tourtas 2012 {published data only}

Tourtas T, Laaser K, Bachmann BO, Cursiefen C, Kruse FE. Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *American Journal* of Ophthalmology 2012;**153**(6):1082-90.

Additional references

Afshari 2006

Afshari NA, Pittard AB, Siddiqui A, Klintworth GK. Clinical study of Fuchs corneal endothelial dystrophy leading to penetrating keratoplasty: a 30-year experience. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 2006;**124**(6):177-80.

Anshu 2012

Anshu A, Price MO, Price FW Jr. Risk of corneal transplant rejection significantly reduced with Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Ophthalmology* 2012;**119**(3):536-40.

Ayres 2006

Ayres BD, Rapuano CJ. Refractive power of the cornea. *Comprehensive Ophthalmology Update* 2006;**7**(5):243-51.

Bahar 2008

Bahar I, Kaiserman I, McAllum P, Slomovic A, Rootman D. Comparison of posterior lamellar keratoplasty techniques to penetrating keratoplasty. *Ophthalmology* 2008;**115**(9):1525-33.

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Boimer 2011

Boimer C, Lee K, Sharpen L, Mashour R, Slomovic A. Evolving surgical techniques of and indications for corneal transplantation in Ontario from 2000 to 2009. *Canadian Journal* of Ophthalmology 2011;**46**(4):360-6.

Borboli 2002

Borboli S, Colby K. Mechanisms of disease: Fuch's endothelial dystrophy. *Ophthalmology Clinics of North America* 2002;**15**(1):17-25.

Busin 2012

Busin M, Patel AK, Scorcia V, Ponzin D. Microkeratomeassisted preparation of ultrathin grafts for Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 2012;**53**(1):521-4.

Busin 2013

Busin M, Madi S, Santorum P, Scorcia V, Beltz J. Ultrathin Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty with the microkeratome double-pass technique: two-year outcomes. *Ophthalmology* 2013;**120**(6):1186-94.

Claesson 2009

Claesson M, Armotage WJ, Stenevi U. Corneal oedema after cataract surgery: predisposing factors and corneal graft outcome. *Acta Ophthalmologica* 2009;**87**(2):154-9.

Costagliola 2013

Costagliola C, Romano V, Forbice E, Angi M, Pascotto A, Boccia T, et al. Corneal oedema and its medical treatment. *Clinical and Experimental Optometry* 2013;**96**(6):529-35.

Covidence 2015 [Computer program]

Veritas Health Innovation. Covidence. Version accessed in October 2017. Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation, 2015.

Cross 1971

Cross HE, Maumenee AE, Cantolino SJ. Inheritance of Fuch's endothelial dystrophy. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 1971;**85**(3):268-72.

Dapena 2011

Dapena I, Ham L, Droutsas K, Van Dijk K, Moutsouris K, Melles GR. Learning curve in Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty: first series of 135 consecutive cases. *Ophthalmology* 2011;**118**(11):2147-54.

Deeks 2011

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Dickman 2016

Dickman MM, Kruit PJ, Remeijer L, Van Rooij J, Van der Lelij A, Wijdh RH, et al. A randomized multicenter clinical trial of ultrathin Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) versus DSAEK. *Ophthalmology* 2016;**123**(11):2276-84.

Dooren 2011

Dooren BT, Saelens IE, Bleyen I, Mulder PG, Bartels MC, Rij GV. Endothelial cell decay after Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty and top hat penetrating keratoplasty. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 2011;**29**(12):9226-31.

Eye Bank Association of America 2015

Eye Bank Association of America. 2015 Eye banking statistical report. www.restoresight.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/03/2015-Statistical-Report.pdf (accessed 16 July 2017).

Frigo 2015

Frigo AC, Fasolo A, Capuzzo C, Fornea M, Bellucci R, Busin M, et al. Corneal transplantation activity over 7 years: changing trends for indications, patient demographics and surgical techniques from the Corneal Transplant Epidemiological Study (CORTES). *Transplant Proceedings* 2015;**47**(2):528-35.

Gorovoy 2006

Gorovoy MS. Descemet-stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *Cornea* 2006;**25**(8):886-9.

GRADEpro 2015 [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime). GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed in March 2018. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), 2015.

Greenrod 2014

Greenrod EB, Jones MN, Kaye S, Larkin DF, National Health Service Blood and Transplant Ocular Tissue Advisory Group and Contributing Ophthalmologists (Ocular Tissue Advisory Group Audit Study 16). Center and surgeon effect on outcomes of endothelial keratoplasty versus penetrating keratoplasty in the United Kingdom. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014;**158**(8):957-66.

Guerra 2011a

Guerra FP, Anshu A, Price MO, Price FW. Endothelial keratoplasty: fellow eyes comparison of Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty and Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Cornea* 2011;**30**(12):1382-6.

Guerra 2011b

Guerra FP, Anshu A, Price MO, Giebel AW, Price FW. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty: prospective study of 1year visual outcomes, graft survival, and endothelial cell loss. *Ophthalmology* 2011;**118**(12):2368-73.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327**:557-60.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JP, Altman DG, Sterne JAC, editor(s). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Joyce 2004

Joyce NC Zhu CC. Human corneal endothelial cell proliferation: potential for use in regenerative medicine. *Cornea* 2004;**23**(Suppl 8):s8-s19.

Khor 2013

Khor WB, Han SB, Mehta JS, Tan DT. Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty with a donor insertion device: clinical results and complications in 100 eyes. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 2013;**156**(4):773-9.

Lee 2009

Lee WB, Jacobs DS, Musch DC, Kaufman SC, Reinhart WJ, Shtein RM. Descemet's stripping endothelial keratoplasty: safety and outcomes: a report by the American Academy of Ophthalmology. *Ophthalmology* 2009;**116**(9):1818-30.

Magovern 1979

Magovern M, Beauchamp GR, McTigue JW, Fine BS, Baumiller RC. Inheritance of Fuch's combined dystrophy. *Ophthalmology* 1979;**86**(10):1897-923.

Maier 2013

Maier P, Reinhard T, Cursiefen C. Descemet stripping endothelial keratoplasty--rapid recovery of visual acuity. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International* 2013;**110**(21):365-71.

Maier 2015

Maier AK, Gundlach E, Schroeter J, Klamann MK, Gonnermann J, Riechardt AI, et al. Influence of the difficulty of graft unfolding and attachment on the outcome in Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology* 2015;**253**(6):895-900.

Melles 1998

Melles GR, Eggink FA, Lander F, Pels E, Rietveld FJ, Beekhuis WH, et al. A surgical technique for posterior lamellar keratoplasty. *Cornea* 1998;**17**(6):618-26.

Melles 2003

Melles GR, Eggink FA, Lander F, Pels E, Rietveld FJ, Beekhuis WH. A surgical technique for posterior lamellar keratoplasty. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology* 2003;**241**(7):571-6.

Melles 2006

Melles GR, Ong TS, Ververs B, Van der Wees J. Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK). *Cornea* 2006;**25**(8):987-90.

Parekh 2013

Parekh M, Salvalaio G, Ruzza A, Camposampiero D, Griffoni C, Zampini A, et al. Posterior lamellar graft preparation: a prospective review from an eye bank on current and future aspects. *Journal of Ophthalmology* 2013;**2013**:Article ID 769860. [DOI: 10.1155/2013/769860]

Parekh 2017a

Parekh M, Ruzza A, Ferrari S, Ahmad S, Kaye S, Ponzin D, et al. Endothelium-in versus endothelium-out for Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty graft preparation and implantation. *Acta Ophthalmologica* 2017;**95**(2):194-8.

Parekh 2017b

Parekh M, Leon P, Ruzza A, Borroni D, Ferrari S, Ponzin D, et al. Graft detachment and re-bubbling rate in Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty. *Survey of Ophthalmology* 2017;**63**(2):245-50.

Patel 2012

Patel SV. Graft survival and endothelial outcomes in the new era of endothelial keratoplasty. *Experimental Eye Research* 2012;**95**(1):40-7.

Phillips 2017

Phillips PM. Experienced DSAEK surgeon's transition to DMEK: outcomes comparing the last 100 DSAEK surgeries with the first 100 DMEK surgeries exclusively using previously published techniques. *Cornea* 2017;**36**(3):275-9.

Pineros 1996

Pineros O, Cohen EJ, Rapuano CJ, Laibson PR. Long-term results after penetrating keratoplasty for Fuchs endothelial dystrophy. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 1996;**114**(1):15-8.

Price 2009

Price MO, Giebel AW, Fairchild KM, Price FW. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty: prospective multicenter study of visual and refractive outcomes and endothelial survival. *Ophthalmology* 2009;**116**(12):2361-8.

RevMan 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Romano 2015a

Romano V, Steger B, Chen JY, Hassaan S, Batterbury M, Willoughby CE, et al. Reliability of the effect of artificial anterior chamber pressure and corneal drying on corneal graft thickness. *Cornea* 2015;**34**(8):866-9.

Romano 2015b

Romano V, Tey A, Hill NM, Ahmad S, Britten C, Batterbury M, et al. Influence of graft size on graft survival following Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2015;**99**(6):784-8.

Romano 2017

Romano V, Steger B, Myneni J, Batterbury M, Willoughby CE, Kaye SB. Preparation of ultrathin grafts for Descemet-stripping endothelial keratoplasty with a single microkeratome pass. *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery* 2017;**43**(1):12-5.

Rosenblum 1980

Rosenblum P, Stark WJ, Maumenee IH, Hirst LW, Maumenee AE. Hereditary Fuchs' dystrophy. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 1980;**90**(4):455-62.



Schünemann 2018

Schünemann HJ, Cuello C, Akl EA, Mustafa RA, Meerpohl JJ, Thayer K, et al. How ROBINS-I and other tools to assess risk of bias in non-randomized studies should be used to rate the certainty of a body of evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2018;**S0895-4356**(17):31031-4.

Singh 2017

Singh A, Zarei-Ghanavati M, Avadhanam V, Liu C. Systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical outcomes of Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet stripping endothelial keratoplasty/Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty. *Cornea* 2017;**36**(11):1437-43.

Smolin 1994

Smolin G, Throft RA, Dohlman CH. Endothelial function. The Cornea; Scientific Foundations and Clinical Practice. 3rd Edition. Lippincott William and Wilkins, 1994:635-43.

Steger 2016

Steger B, Curnow E, Cheeseman R, Romano V, Kaye A, Jones M, et al. Sequential bilateral corneal transplantation and graft survival. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 2016;**170**:50-7.

Sterne 2014

Sterne JAC, Higgins JPT, Reeves BC, on behalf of the development group for ACROBAT-NRSI. A Cochrane Risk Of Bias Assessment Tool: for Non-Randomized Studies of Interventions (ACROBAT-NRSI), Version 1.0.0, 24 September 2014. Available from www.riskofbias.info.

Sterne 2016

Bhandari 2015

Sterne JAC, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ* 2016;**355**:i4919. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.i4919]

Terry 2001

Terry MA, Ousley PJ. Deep lamellar endothelial keratoplasty in the first United States patients: early clinical results. *Cornea* 2001;**20**(3):239-43.

Terry 2005

Terry MA, Ousley PJ. Deep lamellar endothelial keratoplasty visual acuity, astigmatism, and endothelial survival in a large prospective series. *Ophthalmology* 2005;**112**(9):1541-8.

Zhu 2017

Zhu L, Zha Y, Cai J, Zhang Y. Descemet stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet membrane endothelial keratoplasty: a meta-analysis. International Ophthalmology 2017 Apr 17 [Epub ahead of print]. [DOI: 10.1007/s10792-017-0533-3]

References to other published versions of this review

Stuart 2016

Stuart AJ, Virgili G, Shortt AJ. Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty for corneal endothelial failure. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012097]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

Methods	Comparative, non-randomised, retrospective study to evaluate visual outcome and endothelial cell density after DMEK in comparison with DSAEK in the fellow eye for FED
Participants	Country: India
	Number of participants: 30
	Number of eyes: 60
	Number of participants followed up: 100%
	Average age: 55 years (range 44-71 years)
	% female: 40% (12 female/18 male)
	Inclusion criteria: people with FED, pseudophakic with a posterior chamber intraocular lens implanted previously
	Exclusion criteria: people with other ocular comorbidity besides FED were not included
Interventions	Intervention: DMEK

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Bhandari 2015 (Continued)

	Comparator: DSAEK
Outcomes	List outcomes: BCVA, ECD, corneal thickness, graft thickness, graft detachment, graft rejection
	Follow-up: 12 months
Notes	Funding source: none
	Conflict of interest: none
	Date study conducted: not stated in trial report

Goldich 2015

Methods	Comparative, non-randomised, retrospective studies aiming to compare objective and subjective out- comes after DMEK and DSAEK in the fellow eye of the same participants.
Participants	Country: Canada
	Number of participants: 17
	Number of eyes: 34
	Number of participants followed up: 100%
	Average age: 73 years (range 42-87 years)
	% female: 55% (9 female/8 male)
	Inclusion criteria: People with FED and at least 6 months postoperative follow-up
	Exclusion criteria:
Interventions	Intervention: DMEK
	Comparator: DSAEK
Outcomes	List outcomes: BCVA, ECD. Subjective questionnaires were used to assess patients' satisfaction
	Follow-up: 36.5 ± 15.4 months (DSAEK group); 9.6 ± 2.2 months (DMEK group)
Notes	Funding source: none
	Conflict of interest: none
	Date study conducted: Toronto Western Hospital between 2012 and 2013

Guerra 2011

Methods	Comparative, non-randomised, retrospective studies aiming to compare objective and subjective out- comes after DMEK and DSAEK in the fellow eye of the same participants.
Participants	Country: USA, Indianapolis
	Number of participants: 15
	Number of eyes: 30

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Guerra 2011 (Continued)	Number of participants followed up: 100%							
	Average age: 67 years (53-83)							
	% female: 60% (9 female/6 male)							
	Inclusion criteria: people who underwent DSAEK in 1 eye and DMEK in their fellow eye and had com- pleted at least 1 year of follow-up after the last procedure							
	Exclusion criteria: people with pre-existing ocular comorbidities that could result in less than optimal visual potential were excluded from the visual acuity and visual quality analyses.							
Interventions	Intervention: DMEK							
	Comparator: DSAEK							
Outcomes	List outcomes: visual outcomes and ECD, and patient satisfaction using a subjective questionnaire							
	Follow-up: 12 months							
Notes	Funding source: none							
	Conflict of interest: none							
	Date study conducted: not stated in trial report							

Maier 2015b

Methods	Comparative, non-randomised, retrospective studies aiming to compare objective and subjective out- comes after DMEK and DSAEK in the fellow eye of the same participants.
Participants	Country: Germany, Berlin
	Number of participants: 10
	Number of eyes: 20
	Number of participants followed up: 100%
	Average age: 71 years (53-83)
	% female: 40% (4 female/6 male)
	Inclusion criteria: people who underwent DSAEK in 1 eye and DMEK in their fellow eye.
	Exclusion criteria: people with pre-existing ocular comorbidities that could result in less than optimal visual potential were excluded from the visual acuity and visual quality analyses.
Interventions	Intervention: DMEK
	Comparator: DSAEK
Outcomes	List outcomes: visual outcomes and ECD, and patient satisfaction using a subjective questionnaire.
	Follow-up: 24 months
Notes	Funding source: none
	Conflict of interest: none
	Date study conducted: not stated in trial report

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



BCVA: best corrected visual acuity DMEK: Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty DSAEK: Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty ECD: endothelial cell density FED: Fuchs endothelial dystrophy

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Cursiefen 2010	Review article and comparisons made were against penetrating keratoplasty
Cursiefen 2013	Provided a description of surgical techniques, but not their outcomes
Droutsas 2016	Not a paired, contralateral-eye study
Green 2014	Neither a RCT nor a paired, contralateral-eye study
Green 2015	Neither a RCT nor a paired, contralateral-eye study
Hamzaoglu 2015	Neither an RCT nor a paired, contralateral-eye study
Heinzelmann 2016	Comparisons made are against penetrating keratoplasty
Rudolph 2012	Neither an RCT nor a paired, contralateral-eye study
Tourtas 2012	Neither a RCT nor a paired, contralateral-eye study

RCT: randomised controlled trial

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. DMEK versus DSAEK

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Best corrected visual acuity (logMAR)	4	140	Mean Difference (Random, 95% CI)	-0.14 [-0.18, -0.10]
2 Endothelial cell count (cells/ mm ²)	4		Mean Difference (Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Graft dislocation	4	144	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	5.4 [1.51, 19.27]
4 Corneal graft rejection	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
5 Primary graft failure	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 1 Best corrected visual acuity (logMAR).

Study or subgroup	DMEK	DSAEK	Mean Dif- ference		Mean Difference			Weight	Mean Difference
	N	Ν	(SE)		IV, Ranc	lom, 95% Cl			IV, Random, 95% Cl
Bhandari 2015	30	30	-0.1 (0.022)					72.25%	-0.13[-0.17,-0.09]
Goldich 2015	17	17	-0.1 (0.051)		+	-		13.44%	-0.14[-0.24,-0.04]
Guerra 2011	13	13	-0.2 (0.054)		+			11.99%	-0.18[-0.29,-0.08]
Maier 2015b	10	10	-0.3 (0.123)	•				2.31%	-0.29[-0.53,-0.05]
Total (95% CI)					•			100%	-0.14[-0.18,-0.1]
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =2.27,	df=3(P=0.52); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=7.55(P<0.	0001)				1				
			Favours DMEK	-0.5	-0.25	0 0.25	0.5	Favours DSAE	K

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 2 Endothelial cell count (cells/mm²).

Study or subgroup	Experimental	Control	Mean Dif- ference		Mear	Differe	nce		Mean Difference
	Ν	Ν	(SE)		IV, Rar	dom, 95	% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
Bhandari 2015	30	30	-30 (16.54)			+			-30[-62.42,2.42]
Goldich 2015	17	17	447 (210.86)				+		447[33.72,860.28]
Guerra 2011	15	15	54 (209.13)						54[-355.89,463.89]
Maier 2015b	4	6	861 (442.08)		1			-+	861[-5.46,1727.46]
			Favours DSAEK	-1000	-500	0	500	1000	Favours DMEK

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 3 Graft dislocation.

Study or subgroup	DMEK	DSAEK	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio		
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		
Bhandari 2015	3/30	0/30		20%	7[0.38,129.93]		
Goldich 2015	0/17	0/17			Not estimable		
Guerra 2011	5/15	1/15		40%	5[0.66,37.85]		
Maier 2015b	5/10	1/10		40%	5[0.7,35.5]		
Total (95% CI)	72	72		100%	5.4[1.51,19.27]		
Total events: 13 (DMEK), 2 (DSAEK)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.04, df=2	Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.04, df=2(P=0.98); I ² =0%						
Test for overall effect: Z=2.6(P=0.01)				1			
	امثام ممم ا	anting in DMEK 0.01	0.1 1 10 10				

Less dislocation in DMEK 0.01 100 Less dislocation in DSAEK

Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 4 Corneal graft rejection.

Study or subgroup	DMEK	DSAEK		I	Risk Ratio	D		Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		м-н,	Fixed, 9	5% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Bhandari 2015	0/30	0/30						Not estimable
Goldich 2015	0/17	0/17						Not estimable
		Less rejection DMEK	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	Less rejection DSAEK

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Study or subgroup	DMEK	DSAEK			Risk Ratio	1		Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		M-H	, Fixed, 95	% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Guerra 2011	0/15	1/15						0.33[0.01,7.58]
Maier 2015b	0/10	0/10						Not estimable
		Less rejection DMEK	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	Less rejection DSAEK

Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 DMEK versus DSAEK, Outcome 5 Primary graft failure.

Study or subgroup	DMEK	DSAEK		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio		
	n/N	n/N		м-н,	Fixed, 95	% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Bhandari 2015	0/30	0/30						Not estimable
Goldich 2015	0/17	0/17						Not estimable
Guerra 2011	0/15	0/15						Not estimable
Maier 2015b	0/10	0/10						Not estimable
		More likely with DMEK	0.01	0.1	1	10	100	More likely with DSAEK

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Data on study characteristics

Mandatory items		Optional items			
Methods					
Study design	 Parallel-group RCT i.e. people randomised to treatment Within-person RCT i.e. eyes randomised to treatment Non-randomised contralateral-eye studies i.e. one eye in same participant randomised to one intervention and other eye to other intervention 	Number ran- domised/analysed (RCT) or			
Eyes or	Unit of randomisation: participants or eyes	Number recruit- ed/analysed			
Unit of randomisation/ unit of analysis	 One eye included in study, specify how eye selected Both eyes included in study, both eyes received same treatment, briefly specify how analysed (best/worst/average/both and adjusted for within person correlation/both and not adjusted for within person correlation) and specify if mixture one eye and two eye Both eyes included in study, eyes received different treatments, specify if correct pair-matched analysis done 				
Participants					
Country		Setting			
Total number of partici- pants	Total number of partici- Total number of partici- Total number of partici- This information will be collected for total number of study participants who received the intervention and follow-up data were reported. We collect the av- erage age of the participants and also the age range.				

Average age and age range Average age and age range

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Table 1. Data on study	characteristics (Continued)						
Inclusion criteria	 People with a clinical diagnosis of endothelial decompensation secondary to FED or PBK and who required a corneal transplant 						
	 People with co-existent cataracts undergoing combined cataract surgery and corneal transplant (phaco-DMEK/phaco-DSAEK) will be included 						
Exclusion criteria	 People who have corneal endothelial failure as a result of a pathology other than FED or PBK 						
	Visually significant co-morbidities, especially glaucoma						
	 People with visually significant cataract which is not treated prior to, or at the time of, corneal transplant 						
Interventions	DMEK or DSAEK with or without simultaneous phacoemulsification and lens implant						
Intervention (n =)	Number of people randomised to DSAEK						
Comparator (n =)	Number of people randomised to DMEK						
See MECIR 65 and 70							
Outcomes	Primary outcomes						
	Mean logMAR BCVA at 12 months postoperatively						
	Secondary outcomes						
	 Mean logMAR BCVA at 1 month and 3 months post-treatment (to indicate speed of visual recovery) Mean endothelial cell count as measured by specular microscopy at 6 						
	months, 12 months, 24 months and 5 years post-treatment						
	Corneal graft rejection						
	Primary graft failure						
	Graft dislocation Joss of 10 or more letters (logMAP) versus preoperative RCVA						
Primary and secondary outcomes as defined in	We will collect data on adverse events						
study reports	A 6-, 12- and 24-month follow-up schedule will be collected						
See MECIR R70							
Notes							
Declaration of interest							
See MECIR 69							
BCVA: best corrected visua	l acuity						
FED: Fuchs endothelial dys DMEK: Descemet's membr	trophy ane endothelial keratoplasty						

DSAEK: Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty logMAR: logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution

PBK: pseudophakic bullous keratopathy

RCT: randomised controlled trial

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2018 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Table 2. ROBINS-I assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Study: Bhandari 2015

ROBINS-I domain	Risk of Bias	Description: paired, contralateral-eye study
Bias due to confound- ing	Serious risk	All participants received DSAEK before DMEK. Baseline BCVA, CCT, donor ECD and lens status were similar. No previous glaucoma surgery or treatment
Bias in selection of par- ticipants	Low risk	Intervention and follow-up start were simultaneous as a rule for surgery. No evidence of selection into the study due to variables measured after the inter- vention since participants were included in the studies only if DSAEK was used in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye.
Bias in classification of interventions	Low risk	Well-defined surgical interventions
Bias due to deviations from intended interven- tions	Low risk	There is no mention of a difference in surgeon training in both techniques. There is no evidence of differences in co-interventions such as concurrent cataract surgery.
Bias due to missing da- ta	Low risk	No differential follow-up or missing data reported; no participant selection due to missing data reported.
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low risk	Retrospective study. BCVA measurement done routinely and not related to study objectives. Other outcomes and adverse events: objectively measured
Bias in selection of the reported result	Low risk	No selective reporting possible for our pre-specified outcomes.

Overall bias

All outcomes: serious risk

Study: Goldich 2015

ROBINS-I domain	Risk of Bias	Description: paired, contralateral-eye study
Bias due to confound- ing	Serious risk	All participants underwent DSAEK before DMEK. Baseline BCVA and donor ECD or lens status were similar. CCT not reported. No previous glaucoma surgery or treatment
Bias in selection of par- ticipants	Low risk	Intervention and follow-up start were simultaneous as a rule for surgery. No evidence of selection into the study due to variables measured after the inter- vention since participants were included in the studies only if DSAEK was used in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye.
Bias in classification of interventions	Low risk	Well-defined surgical interventions
Bias due to deviations from intended interven- tions	Low risk	There is no mention of a difference in surgeon training in both techniques. There is no evidence of differences in co-interventions such as concurrent cataract surgery.
Bias due to missing da- ta	Low risk	No differential follow-up or missing data reported; no patient selection due to missing data reported
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low risk	Retrospective study. BCVA measurement done routinely and not related to study objectives. Other outcomes and adverse events: objectively measured

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)

Table 2. ROBINS-I assessment of risk of bias in included studies (Continued)

Bias in selection of the Low risk reported result

No selective reporting possible for our pre-specified outcomes

Overall bias	All outcomes: serious risk	
Study: Guerra 2011		
ROBINS-I domain	Risk of Blas	Description: paired, contralateral-eye study
Bias due to confound- ing	Serious risk	All participants underwent DSAEK before DMEK. Baseline confounding vari- ables as BCVA and donor ECD are similar. CCT not reported
Bias in selection of par- ticipants	Low risk	Intervention and follow-up start were simultaneous as a rule for surgery. No evidence of selection into the study due to variables measured after the inter- vention since participants were included in the studies only if DSAEK was used in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye.
Bias in classification of interventions	Low risk	Well-defined surgical interventions
Bias due to deviations from intended interven- tions	Low risk	There is no mention of a difference in surgeon training in both techniques. There is no evidence of differences in co-interventions such as concurrent cataract surgery.
Bias due to missing da- ta	Low risk	No differential follow-up or missing data reported; no patient selection due to missing data reported
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low risk	Retrospective study. BCVA measurement done routinely and not related to study objectives. Other outcomes and adverse events: objectively measured
Bias in selection of the reported result	Low risk	No selective reporting possible for our pre-specified continuous outcomes
Overall bias	All outcomes: serious ris	k
Study: Maier 2015b		
ROBINS-I domain	Risk of Blas	Description: paired, contralateral eye study
Bias due to confound- ing	Serious risk	All participants underwent DSAEK before DMEK. Baseline confounding vari- ables as BCVA and donor ECD are similar. CCT not reported
Bias in selection of par- ticipants	Low risk	Intervention and follow-up start were simultaneous as a rule for surgery. No evidence of selection into the study due to variables measured after the inter- vention since participants were included in the studies only if DSAEK was used in one eye and DMEK in the fellow eye.
Bias in classification of interventions	Low risk	Well defined surgical interventions
Bias due to deviations from intended interven- tions	Low risk	There is no mention of a difference in surgeon training in both techniques. There is no evidence of differences in co-interventions such as concurrent cataract surgery.
Bias due to missing da- ta	Serious risk	Differential follow-up reported: 21 months for DSAEK and 7 month for DMEK; this could have favoured DSAEK since visual acuity continues to improve dur- ing follow-up with this technique.

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



Table 2. ROBINS-I assessment of risk of bias in included studies (Continued)

Overall bias	All outcomes: serious ris	k
Bias in selection of the reported result	Low risk	No selective reporting possible for our pre-specified continuous outcomes
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low risk	Retrospective study. BCVA measurement done routinely and not related to study objectives. Other outcomes and adverse events: objectively measured

BCVA: best corrected visual acuity CCT: central corneal thickness DMEK: Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty DSAEK: Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty ECD: endothelial cell density

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. CENTRAL search strategy

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Fuchs' Endothelial Dystrophy] this term only
#2 fuchs* near/3 endothelial near/3 dystroph*
#3 fuchs* near/3 dystroph*
#4 bullous keratopath*
#5 pbk
#6 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5
#7 MeSH descriptor: [Descemet Membrane] this term only
#8 Descemet* near/2 strip* near/5 keratoplast*
#9 Descemet* near/2 membrane* near/5 keratoplast*
#10 DSAEK or DMEK
#11 #7 or #8 or #9 or #10
#12 #6 and #11

Appendix 2. MEDLINE Ovid search strategy

- 1. Fuchs' Endothelial Dystrophy/
- 2. (fuchs\$ adj3 endothelial adj3 dystroph\$).tw.
- 3. (fuchs\$ adj3 dystroph\$).tw.
- 4. bullous keratopath\$.tw.
- 5. pbk.tw.
- 6. or/1-5
- 7. Descemet Membrane/
- 8. (Descemet\$ adj2 strip\$ adj5 keratoplast\$).tw.
- 9. (Descemet\$ adj2 membrane\$ adj5 keratoplast\$).tw.
- 10. (DSAEK or DMEK).tw.
- 11. or/7-10
- 12.6 and 11

Appendix 3. Embase Ovid search strategy

- 1. congenital cornea dystrophy/
- 2. (fuchs\$ adj3 endothelial adj3 dystroph\$).tw.
- 3. (fuchs\$ adj3 dystroph\$).tw.
- 4. bullous keratopath\$.tw.
- 5. pbk.tw.
- 6. or/1-5
- 7. Descemet Membrane/
- 8. (Descemet\$ adj2 strip\$ adj5 keratoplast\$).tw.
- 9. (Descemet\$ adj2 membrane\$ adj5 keratoplast\$).tw.
- 10. (DSAEK or DMEK).tw.
- 11. or/7-10

Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) versus Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) for corneal endothelial failure (Review)



12.6 and 11

Appendix 4. LILACS BIREME search strategy

(fuchs\$ endothelial dystroph\$ or fuchs\$ dystroph\$) and (Descemet\$ strip\$ keratoplast\$ or Descemet\$ membrane\$ keratoplast\$ or DSAEK or DMEK)

Appendix 5. ISRCTN search strategy

"(fuchs OR endothelial dystrophy OR bullous keratopathy OR pbk) AND (descemet OR DSAEK OR DMEK)"

Appendix 6. ClinicalTrials.gov search strategy

(fuchs OR endothelial dystrophy OR bullous keratopathy OR pbk) AND (descemet OR DSAEK OR DMEK)

Appendix 7. ICTRP search strategy

fuchs OR endothelial dystrophy OR bullous keratopathy OR pbk = Condition AND descemet OR DMEK or DSAEK = Interventions

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Protocol

• Written by AJ Stuart and edited by AJ Shortt with additions by G Virgili

Review

- Search results screened by AJ Stuart and V Romano
- Included studies analysed by AJ Stuart and V Romano
- Results written by AJ Stuart, V Romano, G Virgili and A Shortt

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

AJ Stuart: none known V Romano: none Known G Virgili: none known AJ Shortt: none known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• No sources of support supplied

External sources

- National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK.
 - Richard Wormald, Co-ordinating Editor for Cochrane Eyes and Vision (CEV) acknowledges financial support for his CEV research sessions from the Department of Health through the award made by the National Institute for Health Research to Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology for a Specialist Biomedical Research Centre for Ophthalmology.
 - o This review was supported by the NIHR, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the CEV UK editorial base.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR, NHS, or the Department of Health.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

Additional co-author V. Romano added.

In our protocol the inclusion criteria were the clinical diagnosis of Fuch's endothelial dystropy (FED) or pseudophakic bullous keratopathy (PBK) requiring a corneal transplant for the treatment of corneal endothelial failure. In order to reduce confounding factors, we restricted the selection to paired design in which participants underwent Descemet's stripping automated endothelial keratoplasty (DSAEK) in one eye and Descemet's membrane endothelial keratoplasty (DMEK) in the other eye. We did not include data from any other study designs, such as matched, unpaired studies, since they may be even more prone to unknown confounding factors than within-person studies. However, we did not find any reports where people with PBK were recruited. Conversely FED, as is corneal dystrophy, is bilateral by definition and often these patients require corneal transplant for the treatment of corneal endothelial failure in both eyes.



We used guidance recently provided by the GRADE Working Group (Schünemann 2018) on how to integrate ROBINS-I assessment with GRADEing the certainty of evidence.

We replaced the outcome "Loss of 10 or more ETDRS letters (0.2 logMAR) or more" with "Severe visual loss of 1.0 logMAR or less".

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Descemet Stripping Endothelial Keratoplasty [adverse effects]; Cell Count; Corneal Diseases [*surgery]; Corneal Transplantation; Descemet Membrane [*surgery]; Endothelial Cells [cytology]; Fuchs' Endothelial Dystrophy [*surgery]; Non-Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Postoperative Complications [etiology]; Visual Acuity

MeSH check words

Adult; Humans